#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### RECEIVED

11-13-2014

#### COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent

v. Appellate Case No.: 2014AP001983-CR Circuit Case No.: 2010CF1780 Milwaukee County

ERIKA LISETTE GUTIERREZ, Defendant-Appellant.

#### APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND DENIAL OF POST-CONVICTION MOTION ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY WAGNER PRESIDING

#### DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

Sara Roemaat Attorney for Defendant-Appellant State Bar No. 1056631

#### **Issues Presented**

1. Should Gutierrez be entitled to withdraw her plea because the court failed to fully advise her of the deportation statute and because she will likely be deported as a result of this offense?

Answered by circuit court: No.

2. Should Gutierrez be entitled to withdraw her guilty plea due to the collateral consequence of the trial court viewing the video?

Answered by circuit court: No.

3. Did Gutierrez receive ineffective assistance of counsel because of her attorney's errors regarding the video?

Answered by circuit court: No.

4. Is Gutierrez entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice?

Answered by circuit court: No.

#### **Position on Oral Argument and Publication**

Neither is requested, as the appeal can be resolved upon the parties' briefs and publication is not necessary.

#### Statement of the Case and Facts

On April 8, 2010, Gutierrez was charged with 8 counts of Physical Abuse of a Child (Intentional Causation, High Probability) contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.03(2)(c) and 939.50(3)(f). The complaint alleged that between April 3, 2010 and April 4, 2010, Gutierrez intentionally caused bodily harm to her son, JG, born January 16, 2010, by placing her hand over her son's mouth. These actions were recorded on video at Children's Hospital. (R2).

JG was admitted to Children's Hospital on April 3, 2010 because he was suffering from possible seizures. At around 11:30 a.m., one of the nurses entered his room after JG had suffered a possible seizure. The nurse found JG unresponsive, but his respiration rate and pulse were normal. The nurse stayed in the room for an hour with JG and Gutierrez. (R72:2).

Two minutes after the nurse left the room, JG's patient alarm was activated. The nurse found JG pulseless, not breathing and a deep purple color. Gutierrez was allegedly the only person in the room with JG during those two minutes. JG recovered within one minute of the nurse coming back into the room. (R72:3).

JG was then transferred to a room equipped with video monitoring. Off and on, JG showed signs of distress that

ended when nurses responded to JG's room. On April 4, 2010, a different nurse reviewed the surveillance video; the video showed Gutierrez, on eight separate occasions, covering her son's mouth and face, or pinching JG's nose as though she was attempting to prevent him from breathing. Gutierrez never did this while there were medical professionals in the room. (R72:3).

Gutierrez admitted to police that she suffered from depression and that her depression made her harm her son. (R2).

From the beginning of the case, Gutierrez required the aide of a Spanish interpreter. (R77). At the initial appearance, Gutierrez's attorney, Anne Jaspers, argued that the complaint was multiplicitious because many of the counts happened back to back. (R77:5). The court denied the defense motion, and found probable cause. (R77:7). Gutierrez waived her preliminary hearing on April 19, 2010. (R78).

On May 4, 2010, Gutierrez entered a plea of not guilty by reason of mental disease or defect. (R79:2). On May 19, 2010, Gutierrez filed a *Miranda-Goodchild* motion. (R80). After various witnesses were called to testify, the State argued that Gutierrez was notified of her *Miranda* warnings, that she knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently waived those warnings and chose to make a statement, and that she specifically stated she understood the warnings. The State argued that even given certain variations of dialects between the officer's Puerto Rican Spanish and Gutierrez's Mexican Spanish, that Gutierrez's statement was voluntary. (R85:46).

Gutierrez argued that the State was not able to show that the *Miranda* rights were adequately explained, and that she did not knowingly and intelligently waive those rights. (R85:47). The court found that the *Miranda* warnings were given, and that based on the totality of the circumstances, the statement given was a "voluntary product of free and unconstrained will reflecting deliberateness of choice and not coerced and not a product of any improper police practices." (R85:53). Thus, the court denied the motion to suppress.

Dr. John Pankiewicz and Dr. Robert Rawski both examined Gutierrez with regard to the NGI plea. Dr. Pankiewicz supported the special plea while Dr. Rawski did not. Gutierrez entered a guilty plea as charged in counts two, three, five and six on July 26, 2010, and informed the court that there would still be a second phase in the case whereby she would challenge whether she was NGI. (R87:2). The rest of the counts were dismissed and read in. (R87:3).

Gutierrez waived the jury trial for phase two, and a court trial began on December 13, 2010. The court ultimately found that Gutierrez did not meet the requirements for an NGI plea. (R98). When making its decision, the court outlined all of the evidence that it had heard during the second phase of the case. First, the court noted that Reverend Suero had testified that Gutierrez had told him on two occasions that she was hearing voices while pregnant with JG, and was perturbed by the voices. (R98:8; App. 115).

Dr. Pankiewicz had testified that he was concerned why Gutierrez performed the actions at issue given the likelihood of being detected as her child was knowingly under video and audio surveillance. Dr. Pankiewicz provided a medical "basis for why the defendant might initially deny the auditory hallucinations, testifying that Gutierrez was suffering from major depression with psychotic features on the date of her offense." (R98:8; App. 115). Dr. Pankiewicz cited Revered Suero's statements that Gutierrez heard voices, and he acknowledged that Gutierrez had an understanding of wrongfulness because she stopped harming JG when someone walked in and did not act on the voices telling her to harm her cellmate at the jail. (R98:8-9; App. 115-116). Dr. Pankiewicz concluded that in his medical opinion, Gutierrez lacked substantial capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of her conduct and to conform her conduct to the requirements of law. (R98:9; App. 116).

Dr. Rawski testified that he believed Gutierrez's explanations for her actions were contradictory and incredulous. Dr. Rawski also questioned why Gutierrez attempted to act on the voices when she brought JG to the hospital for his medical benefit. However, he acknowledged that that did not mean she did not have auditory hallucinations or is not depressed. Dr. Rawski found it suspicious that Gutierrez heard voices in detailed intervals of every three days for 10 minutes. (R98:9-10; App. 116-117). Dr. Rawski concluded that Gutierrez did not lack substantial capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of her conduct or to conform her conduct to the requirements of law. (R98:10; App. 117).

The court found that Gutierrez "stopped harming JG when medical staff came or when medical staff came to her child's attention. Both parties and their experts have recognized that the presence of videotaping JG at the hospital calls into the defendant's control over actions because of the high probability of being caught." (R98:11-12; App. 118-119). The court found also found that Dr. Rawski has "provided evidence that the defendant may have forgotten about the presence of the videotape all together. It is also questionable why the voices would have commanded the defendant to suffocate her child, but still permit her to take JG to the hospital for the initial treatment of possible seizures." (R98:12; App. 119).

The court also found that Gutierrez heard voices while incarcerated but that she had the capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of any urges to harm her cellmate. (R98:12; App. 119). Dr. Rawski testified that it was "unlikely that brief incarceration treatment would have such an immediate and powerful impact." (R98:12; App. 119).

The court found,

Dr. Rawski's expert testimony on these issues most credible and weighed it accordingly. His testimony is also supported by the videotape. The defendant clearly stopped harming JG when the medical staff and her husband came in. Dr. Pankiewicz expert testimony is undercut by Dr. Rawski's opinion that if the voices were controlling as the defendant contends, she would have proceeded with her actions even at the risk of being caught. It is also undercut by the inconsistencies in the defendant's defense. It was not until six weeks after the events in question that the defendant brought up auditory hallucinations as an affirmative defense. This new defense arose when Dr. Pankiewicz met with-initially the defendant denied committing the actions at issue. Later she admitted to trying to suffocate JG due to depression.

(R98:13; App. 120).

The court noted that Gutierrez contended that she,

did not report hearing the voices for six [weeks] because of her history of trauma, the presence of a language barrier and the cultural stigma. She also notes jail records reflect the defendant was diagnosed by the jail psychiatrist with depression with psychotic features. While this court does recognize there is evidence to support the defendant's position, it does not find her ultimate conclusion persuasive. As a matter of law there is a significant line between required medical treatment and lacking substantial capacity either to depreciate—to appreciate the wrongfulness of the conduct and conform her conduct to the requirements of law.

(R98:14; App. 121).

On April 20, 2011, Gutierrez was sentenced to three years of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision on all counts. All of the counts were run consecutive to one another. (R100).

There was a delay of several years during the appellate process because Gutierrez had multiple attorneys withdraw due to conflicts and a change in employment. On May 12, 2014, Gutierrez filed a post-conviction motion. (R66). First, she asked to withdraw her plea based on the fact that the court failed to fully advise her of the deportation statute and because she will likely be deported as a result of this offense. Second, Gutierrez asked to withdraw her plea due to a collateral consequence; she argued that the fact that the court was able to view the video of Gutierrez putting her hand over the baby's mouth was a collateral consequence. (R66).

Third, Gutierrez argued that she received ineffective assistance of counsel because her attorney failed to know that the video would be admitted into evidence. Fourth, Gutierrez argued that she is entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice; she believed the trial court's verdict in the responsibility phase was against the greater weight of the evidence presented at trial. (R66).

After reviewing the State's response brief and Gutierrez's reply brief, the circuit court denied the motion. First, the court stated that the court's immigration warnings were sufficient to comport with the required immigration warnings. (R74:2). The circuit court also argued that Gutierrez cannot show that her guilty plea is likely to result in deportation. (R74:3).

Second, the court ruled that the admission into evidence of the video recording during the second phase was not a collateral consequence of Gutierrez's plea during the first phase. The court argued that the "admission of the videotape was not dependent on whether the defendant entered a guilty plea during phase I." (R74:4).

Third, the court ruled that Gutierrez did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel regarding the video. The

court noted that "given [the evidence] and the defendant's admissions, there is no reasonable probability she would have been acquitted of any of these crimes, and there would have been every reasonable probability that she would have been convicted of *all eight counts* of physically abusing her child." (R74:4-5).

Finally, the court ruled that a new trial in the interest of justice was not warranted. (R74:5). A Notice of Appeal was timely filed. (R75).

#### Argument

I. Gutierrez is entitled to withdraw her plea because the court failed to fully advise her of the deportation statute and because she will likely be deported as a result of this offense.
a. Standard of review.

There is no argument about what the court said in this case as the warning is contained in the transcript. Thus, when there is a question of law as to the proper application of a statute to undisputed facts, the Court of Appeals reviews the issue *de novo*. *The Landings LLC v. City of Waupaca*, 2005 WI App 181, ¶5, 287 Wis.2d 120, 713 N.W.2d 689 (2005).

#### b. General principles of law.

Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c) states,

Before the court accepts a plea of guilty or no contest, it shall...address the defendant personally and advise the defendant as follows: "If you are not a citizen of the United States of America, you are advised that a plea of guilty or no contest for the offense with which you are charged may result in deportation, the exclusion from admission to this country or the denial of naturalization, under federal law."

Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c).

To withdraw a plea under Wis. Stat. § 971.08(2), a defendant's motion must allege two facts: (1) that the circuit court failed to advise the defendant of the deportation consequences as required by Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c), and (2) that the defendant's plea is likely to result in the defendant's deportation, exclusion from admission to this country, or denial of naturalization. *State v. Negrete*, 2012 WI App 92, ¶23, 343 Wis.2d 1, 819 N.W.2d 749.

Case law states that circuit court should "recite with precision the statutory admonition." *State v. Hou Erik Vang*, 2010 WI App 118, ¶15, 328 Wis.2d 251, 789 N.W.2d 115. The Court has held that Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c)

is clear in its directive to the trial courts of this state. The statute not only commands what the court must personally say to the defendant, but the language is bracketed by quotation marks, an unusual and significant signal that the statute must be followed to the letter. While harmless error is sometimes a safety net for trial courts, it is not always a guarantee. We urge all trial courts to follow the express mandate of Sec. 971.08(1)(c).

*State v. Garcia*, 2001 WI App 81, ¶16, 234 Wis.2d 304, 610 N.W.2d 180, *overruled on other grounds by State v. Douangmala*, 253 Wis.2d 173, ¶42, 646 N.W.2d 1.

In *State v. Mursal*, the defendant argued that he was entitled to withdraw his plea because, "even though the substance of the trial court's warning fully complied with Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c), the exact language used deviated from the statute." *State v. Mursal*, 2013 WI App 125, ¶15, 351 Wis.2d 180, 190, 839.N.W.2d 173, 177, *review denied*, 2014 WI App 14, 843 N.W.2d 708. The court noted that

> the trial court's Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c) warning completely explained each of the elements listed in the statute. The trial court explained that if Mursal was not a citizen of the United States, his plea might result in deportation, the exclusion from admission to this country, or the denial of naturalization under federal law. Substantively, the trial court's warning complied

perfectly with the statute, and linguistically, the differences were so slight that they did not alter the meaning of the warning in any way.

Mursal, 2013 WI App 125, ¶16.

## c. General principles of law as applied to Gutierrez's case.

In this case, Gutierrez meets the first requirement, which is that the court failed to advise her as required by Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c). While the trial court read through most of the required language, the trial court's warning did not fully comply with Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c). During her plea hearing, the court asked her, "You also understand if you're not a citizen of the United States, your plea could result in deportation, exclusion or denial of naturalization?" (R87:4).

Therefore, the court did not substantively comply with the statute; the court simply said "exclusion" rather than "exclusion from admission to this country." The word "exclusion" can be vague, and a defendant, particularly one with a limited education such as Gutierrez, will not necessarily assume that they are being excluded from admission to this country.

At the trial court level, the State argued that the trial court's warnings substantially complied with the immigration warnings. The circuit court agreed, noting that,

> while the court stated "exclusion" rather than "exclusion from admission to this country," the court is not persuaded that the omitted language constitutes a material deviation from the language of the statute to warrant the extraordinary remedy of automatic plea withdrawal, particularly since the motion alleges only that a defendant with a limited education such as the defendant in this case "will *not necessarily* assume that they are being excluded from the admission to this country."

(R74: 2-3; App. 101-103).

Gutierrez has a limited education; she does not understand how the immigration process works or how deportation works. Gutierrez would not have pled had she known that she was going to be excluded from coming back into the country where her family now lives. It's a common misunderstanding because a defendant with a limited education will not necessarily assume that they are being excluded from admission to this country.

Gutierrez's crime appears to be one involving a crime of moral turpitude because it was a crime in which bodily harm was caused or threatened by an intentional act. Further, she was convicted of two or more offenses of any type and received an aggregate prison sentence of 5 year or more. Therefore, her crime would prevent her from being able to obtain lawful admission status in the United States and her plea is likely to result in deportation as soon as she is done serving her sentence. (R66:19).

The circuit court wrote that that Gutierrez argued that the crime appeared to be one involving a crime of moral turpitude, that her crime could prevent her from being able to obtain lawful admission status, and that her plea is likely to result in deportation as soon as she is done serving her sentence. The court held that case law requires a defendant to "allege facts demonstrating a causal nexus between the entry of a guilty plea and the federal government's likely institution of adverse immigration consequences." (R74:3; App. 103).

However, as the exhibit submitted to the circuit court illustrates, the language used for criminal inadmissibility and deportability grounds is "will or may prevent." (R66:19). Until Gutierrez is contacted by federal authorities regarding her immigration status, she cannot say for certain that she will be deported or denied admission to this country because she falls under the "will or may prevent" label. Further, her crime is not directly labeled by the government as one involving a crime of moral turpitude; instead, it is described as "crimes in which bodily harm is caused or threatened by an intentional act." *See* 8 U.S.C. \$1227(a)(2)(A)(i); (R66:19).

Obviously, based on the Gutierrez's actions, one can reasonably believe that the government will view her crime as one in which bodily harm was threatened by her intentional actions. Again, until the government contacts Gutierrez about deportation proceedings, there is no guarantee that they will view her crimes as such. However, it is highly likely, which leads to her being able to prove that her plea is likely to result in deportation as soon as she is done serving her sentence.

### II. Gutierrez is entitled to withdraw her guilty plea due to a collateral consequence.a. Standard of review.

The Court of Appeals will accept the "circuit court's findings of evidentiary or historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous. However, whether a plea was voluntary and knowingly entered is a question of constitutional fact that [the Court of Appeals reviews] independently." *State v. Brown*, 2004 WI App 179, ¶5, 276 Wis.2d 559, 687 N.W.2d 543.

#### b. General principles of law.

Any defendant that wishes to withdraw a guilty or no contest plea after sentencing must establish by clear and convincing evidence that withdrawal is necessary to avoid manifest injustice. *State ex rel. Warren v. Schwartz*, 219 Wis.2d 615, 635, 579 N.W.2d 698 (1998). The constitution requires that a plea must be knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently entered; a manifest injustice occurs when it is not. *State v. Rodriguez*, 221 Wis.2d 487, 492, 585 N.W.2d 701 (Ct. App. 1998). Any defendant that is denied a constitutional right may withdraw a plea as a matter of right. *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis.2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986).

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