RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 07-07-2016

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP1983-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ERIKA LISETTE GUTIERREZ,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING MOTION POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY WAGNER, PRESIDING.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

NANCY A. NOET Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1023106

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 261-5809 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) noetna@doj.state.wi.us

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

II. Should Gutierrez prevail under current law, she most likely will be permitted to withdraw her pleas even though she knew the possible immigration consequences when she entered them.

A. Introduction.

Before the United States Supreme Court decided Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 360 (2010), almost all state courts and federal courts of appeals held that a defense attorney's failure to advise a client of the possible immigration consequences of a plea did not provide a basis for an ineffective assistance claim. So for many years, Wisconsin's statutory immigration warning, Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c), was the only required immigration-related information that noncitizen defendants received before entering their pleas. And the warning became especially important in 1996 when one of the more dramatic changes in federal immigration law made removal from the United States virtually automatic for noncitizens who committed

¹¹ The same is true for Gutierrez's claim regarding the number of her convictions and the aggregate sentence she received. (*See* Gutierrez's Br. 15.) The claim *may* be accurate, but the argument and proof provided in Gutierrez's submissions are insufficient to establish that.

applicable crimes.¹² "While once there was only a narrow class of deportable offenses and judges wielded broad discretionary authority to prevent deportation, immigration reforms over time [] expanded the class of deportable offenses and limited the authority of judges to alleviate the harsh consequences of deportation." *Padilla*, 559 U.S. at 360.

On the heels of these sweeping changes in federal immigration law, our supreme court decided *State v. Douangmala*, 2002 WI 62, 253 Wis. 2d 173, 646 N.W.2d 1. *Douangmala* parted with long-standing precedent for plea withdrawal motions and held that a plea withdrawal motion based on a circuit court's failure to provide the statutory immigration warning was not subject to the harmless error rule. In other words, defendants who did not receive the statutory warning could withdraw their pleas even if they

When it passed the Immigration Act of 1917, "[f]or the first time in our [nation's] history, Congress made classes of noncitizens deportable based on conduct committed on American soil." *Padilla V. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 361 (2010) (citation omitted). The Act "authorized deportation as a consequence of certain convictions," but it also included a procedure, known as a judicial recommendation against deportation ("JRAD"), which allowed a sentencing court to make a recommendation that a noncitizen defendant not be deported. *Id.* A JRAD was binding on the executive branch and prevented deportation. *Id.* at 361-62. So "[e]ven as the class of deportable offenses expanded, judges retained discretion to ameliorate unjust results on a case-by-case basis." *Id.* at 362.

"However, the JRAD procedure is no longer part of our law. Congress first circumscribed the JRAD provision in the 1952 Immigration and Nationality Act (INA), and in 1990 Congress entirely eliminated it [.]" *Padilla*, 559 U.S. at 363 (footnote omitted) (citation omitted). "In 1996, Congress also eliminated the Attorney General's authority to grant discretionary relief from deportation[.]" *Id.* (citation omitted). So if a noncitizen commits a removable offense after the 1996 effective date of these amendments, his removal from the country is "practically inevitable[.]" *Id.* at 363-64 (citing 8 U.S.C. § 1229b).

were fully aware of the possible immigration consequences when they entered the pleas. Id. ¶ 42. While this extreme result may have made sense given the legal landscape at that time, it doesn't any longer.

Padilla created a new rule of law that now requires defense attorneys to give their clients accurate advice about the immigration consequences associated with their pleas. See Padilla, 359 U.S. at 368-69; see also Chaidez v. U.S., 133 S.Ct. 1103, 1113 (2013). The requirement of affirmative legal advice not only serves noncitizen defendants far better than the statutory warning, it provides a related remedy for plea withdrawal. So defendants who do not receive proper legal advice can withdraw their pleas based on the ineffective assistance of counsel.

The problem is that *Douangmala* permits a defendant who *does* receive accurate legal advice about the immigration consequences of his plea to withdraw the plea simply because the circuit court failed to read the statutory warning. In light of *Padilla*, *Douangmala* should be overturned to reinstate application of the harmless error rule in cases where circuit courts fail to provide the statutory immigration warning, Wis. Stat. § 971.08.¹³

_

Only our supreme court can overrule, modify or withdraw language from a previous supreme court case. *Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 189, 560 N.W.2d 246, 255-56 (1997). That said, this Court is not powerless if it determines that a decision of the court of appeals or the supreme court may be erroneous. *Id.* at 190. Among other options, this Court may choose to certify the appeal to our supreme court, perhaps with an explanation about why a prior case may have been wrongly decided. *Id.* Based on its argument in this case, the State believes that certification to the supreme court is warranted. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.61.

B. The statute.

On April 24, 1986, Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c) became effective, adding an immigration advisory provision to the general plea withdrawal provisions already in place. 1985 Wis. Act 252, §§ 3 and 4. The amended statute then read, in relevant part:

- (1) Before the court accepts a plea of guilty or no contest, it shall do all of the following:
- (a) Address the defendant personally and determine that the plea is made voluntarily with understanding of the nature of the charge and the potential punishment if convicted.
- (b) Make such inquiry as satisfies it that the defendant in fact committed the crime charged.
- (c) Address the defendant personally and advise the defendant as follows: "If you are not a citizen of the United States of America, you are advised that a plea of guilty or no contest for the offense with which you are charged may result in deportation, 14 the exclusion from admission to this country or the denial of naturalization, under federal law."

Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(a)-(c) (1985-86).

In addition, a new subsection (2) provided the following remedy for a court's failure to provide the immigration warning required by Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c):

If a court fails to advise a defendant as required by sub. (1) (c) and a defendant later shows that the plea is likely to result in the defendant's deportation, exclusion from admission to this country or denial of naturalization, the court on the defendant's motion shall vacate any applicable

¹⁴ Federal statutes most often refer to deportation as "removal." The terms are used interchangeably in the *Valadez* decision and in this memorandum.

judgment against the defendant and permit the defendant to withdraw the plea and enter another plea. This subsection does not limit the ability to withdraw a plea of guilty or no contest on any other grounds.

Wis. Stat. § 971.08(2) (1985-86).

All of these provisions remain unchanged today. See Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(a)-(c) & (2) (2013-14).

C. Historically, pleas withdrawal claims based on a court's failure to give the statutory warning were treated just like other claims for plea withdrawal and subject to the harmless error rule.

In 1993, the court of appeals first addressed the unique nature of a motion for plea withdrawal based on a court's failure to give the immigration warning, as opposed to other violations under Wis. Stat. § 971.08. State v. Baeza, 174 Wis. 2d 118, 496 N.W.2d 233 (Ct. App. 1993). In *Baeza*, the defendant sought to withdraw his guilty plea because the circuit court failed to give him the statutory immigration warning. Baeza, 174 Wis. 2d at 121. Citing State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986), Baeza argued that a prima facie showing of a violation of Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c) shifted the burden to the State to prove that the plea was entered knowingly and voluntarily despite the violation. Baeza, 174 Wis. 2d at 123. The court of appeals rejected that argument because (1) Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c) was not in effect when Bangert was decided and (2) Wis. Stat. § 971.08(2) provided a specific remedy for a court's failure to give the immigration warning prior to accepting a plea. *Id*. at 125.

Later that same year, however, the court held that a court's failure to provide a proper immigration warning under Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c) was subject to the harmless error rule. *State v. Chavez*, 175 Wis. 2d 366, 371, 498 N.W.2d 887 (Ct. App. 1993). In *Chavez*, the defendant argued that he

was entitled to withdraw his plea even though he knew the potential immigration consequences of his plea at the time he entered it. *Chavez*, 175 Wis. 2d at 369. First noting that *Baeza* was limited to cases in which a defendant did *not* know the immigration consequences of his plea, *Chavez*, 175 Wis. 2d at 369-70 n.1, the court went on to address the interaction between Wis. Stat. § 971.08 and Wisconsin's harmless error statute, Wis. Stat. § 971.26, which generally provides that the validity of a criminal proceeding is not affected by a defect in form that does not prejudice the defendant. ¹⁵

Because the statutes created an ambiguity when read together, the *Chavez* court relied on the history of Wis. Stat. § 971.08, which demonstrated that "the legislature sought to alleviate the hardship and unfairness involved when an alien *unwittingly* pleads guilty or no contest to a charge without being informed of the consequences of such a plea." *Chavez*, 175 Wis. 2d at 371.

Accordingly, the court found that:

[t]he legislature did not intend a windfall to a defendant who was aware of the deportation consequences of his plea. As is true of a defendant who asserts ineffective counsel, prejudice is an essential component of the inquiry.

Chavez, 175 Wis. 2d at 371.

No indictment, information, complaint or warrant shall be invalid, nor shall the trial, judgment or other proceedings be affected by reason of any defect or imperfection in matters of form which do not prejudice the defendant.

Wis. Stat. § 971.26 (1993-94) & (2013-14).

¹⁵ That statute reads:

The following year, this Court decided *State v. Issa*, 186 Wis. 2d 199, 519 N.W.2d 741 (Ct. App. 1994), and reaffirmed its holding that a defendant seeking plea withdrawal based on the circuit court's failure to provide the statutory immigration warning must allege both that he did not know or understand the omitted information and that he was prejudiced by the omission. *Issa*, 186 Wis. 2d at 204-05, 209-11. The court explained:

Although Issa has made a *prima facie* showing of the invalidity of his guilty pleas by virtue of noncompliance with § 971.08(1)(c), STATS., he is not, on that basis alone, automatically entitled to withdraw his guilty pleas. He is, however, entitled to an evidentiary hearing at which the State will have the burden "to show by clear and convincing evidence that [Issa's] plea[s] [were] nevertheless valid."

Issa, 186 Wis. 2d at 211 (alterations added in *Issa*) (citation omitted).

In State v. Lopez, 196 Wis. 2d 725, 728, 539 N.W.2d 700 (Ct. App. 1995), this Court addressed the scope of Baeza in the context of Lopez's claim that Baeza and Wis. Stat. § 971.08(2) prohibited the court from using any information outside of the plea hearing record to assess his claim for plea withdrawal. Lopez also argued that Chavez and Issa improperly contradicted Baeza on that point. Id. at 730. This Court disagreed and explained that Chavez and Issa were compatible with Baeza because Baeza addressed only the issue of burden shifting, not the permissibility of an

¹⁶ In doing so, the court once again emphasized that its decision in *Baeza* was strictly limited to cases in which the trial court did not advise the defendant of immigration consequences *and* the defendant did not know of those consequences. *Issa*, 186 Wis. 2d at 207 n.2.

evidentiary hearing on the issue of harmless error or prejudice. *Id.* at 731. Consistent with those cases, the *Lopez* court found that "if a defendant knows of the [deportation] potential even though not given the statutory colloquy, the error can be harmless." *Id.* at 732 (citation omitted).

Five years later, the court acknowledged the importance of the statutory immigration warning, but once again upheld the harmless error analysis, this time under circumstances that illustrate the inequity that can result if a defendant seeking plea withdrawal for the circuit court's failure to provide a proper immigration warning is not required to prove prejudice:

trial court, working First. the through the warned Garcia about the risk interpreter. deportation. Second, the court established that Garcia understood that if he was not a citizen he could be deported. Third, Garcia confirmed that he understood this warning. Fourth, the trial court repeatedly said during the plea hearing that no one could say for certain what the position of the INS would be regarding deportation. Fifth, the exchange between the court and Garcia's counsel at the sentencing hearing established that the risk of deportation was a prime consideration in the negotiation of the plea agreement. Garcia makes no claim that he was not consulted regarding the factors motivating the plea agreement. This establishes that Garcia was not prejudiced by the trial court's failure to follow the express mandate of WIS. STAT. § 971.08(1)(c).

State v. Garcia, 2000 WI App 81, ¶ 14, 234 Wis. 2d 304, 610 N.W.2d 180.

D. Our supreme court decides *Douangmala* and holds that a court's failure to give the immigration warning properly can *never* be harmless error.

Two years after Garcia, the Wisconsin Supreme Court addressed the harmless error issue for the first time in State v. Douangmala, 2002 WI 62, 253 Wis. 2d 173, 646 N.W.2d 1. The court departed with long-standing precedent and overruled Chavez, Issa, Lopez, and Garcia, holding instead that harmless error analysis simply does not apply when a court fails to give the immigration warning before accepting a defendant's plea. *Id.* ¶ 42. Focusing on the language of Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c) and 971.08(2), the supreme court concluded that those provisions mandate plea withdrawal whenever a defendant shows that the circuit court did not give a proper immigration warning and that he is likely to face adverse immigration warning consequences – even if the defendant was aware of those immigration consequences when he entered his plea. Douangmala, 253 Wis. 2d 173, ¶¶ 42, 46.

The supreme court dismissed the legislative history of Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(c) and (2), which indicated that the provisions were intended to alleviate the hardships of noncitizen defendants who unwittingly entered pleas without being informed of the related immigration consequences. Douangmala, 253 Wis. 2d 173, ¶¶ 27-31. Despite the legislative intent, the court simply concluded that the "legislature intended what the statute explicitly states[,]" and that "[n]othing in Wis. Stat. § 971.08 points to a different interpretation of the word 'shall' than an interpretation that the word signifies a mandatory act." Id. ¶ 31. The court held that "the Chavez harmless-error interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 971.08(2) is objectively wrong under the language of the statute." Id. ¶ 42. Notably absent from the opinion is any discussion or analysis of the

interaction and inconsistency between Wis. Stat. § 971.08 and Wis. Stat. § 971.26 (the harmless error statute). 17

Douangmala altered the standard plea withdrawal procedure¹⁸ for claims based on the circuit court's failure to provide a proper immigration warning, and eliminated the State's ability to assume the burden of proof and show that the failure was harmless because the defendant was already aware of the immigration consequences of his plea. This extraordinary result may well have stemmed from policy concerns over the fact that at the time, the statutory immigration warning was the only advice that non-citizen defendants were entitled to receive about the immigration consequences of their pleas. However reasonable those concerns may have been, the *Douangmala* Court ignored legislative history and a clear inconsistency with Wisconsin's harmless error statute to reach the desired result. More importantly, the United States Supreme Court's decision in

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